## **BINDURA UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE EDUCATION**

## FACULTY OF SCIENCE EDUCATION

## SCIENCE AND MATHEMATICS EDUCATION DEPARTMENT



## THE BENEFITS OF INTEGRATING ICT IN THE TEACHING AND LEARNING ORDINARY LEVEL PHYSICS A CASE STUDY AT SECONDARY SCHOOLS IN MUZARABANI DISTRICT

BY

## **CHIGWENJERE E NOMORE**

## **REG NO. B1026834**

## SUPERVISOR: DR N ZEZEKWA

A research project submitted to Bindura University of science education in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the Bachelor of Science Education Honors Degree in Physics

**JUNE 2024** 

## ABSTRACT

The study examined the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics in secondary schools in Muzarabani District. The research objectives were: to determine the level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom, to assess the perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in teaching ordinary level physics, to establish the benefits of integrating ICT in teaching and learning ordinary level physics, and to evaluate the challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics. A total of 13 respondents were selected using a purposive sampling method, and the data was analyzed using thematic analysis. The study findings revealed that the level of computer skills among teachers in Muzarabani District varied significantly, impacting their ability to integrate ICT effectively into teaching. While some teachers demonstrated high proficiency, many had only basic skills, limiting ICT use in classrooms. The study outcomes indicated that teachers perceive ICT integration as highly effective in teaching ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District. Key benefits include enhanced understanding of complex concepts, increased student engagement, and improved visualization of abstract ideas. Teachers noted that ICT tools, such as simulations and interactive presentations, make learning more interactive and engaging, helping students grasp difficult topics. The study results showed that integrating ICT in teaching ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District offers significant benefits. Key themes include enhanced conceptual understanding, increased student engagement, and support for diverse learning styles. Teachers noted that ICT tools, such as simulations and interactive presentations, help students visualize complex concepts and make lessons more engaging. The study findings indicated that teachers in Muzarabani District face several significant challenges when integrating ICT in teaching ordinary level physics. These include a lack of resources, such as insufficient computers and unreliable internet, inadequate training, and insufficient infrastructure, such as inadequate electrical outlets and unstable internet connections. The study recommended that implementing regular and comprehensive training workshops for teachers to enhance their ICT skills. Focusing on practical, hands-on training that allows teachers to immediately apply new technologies in their classrooms

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all individuals and institutions that contributed to a successful completion of my research project. The benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning ordinary level physics. First and foremost I am deeply thankful to my supervisor Doctor N Zezekwa for his individual guidance, constructive feedback and unwavering support throughout this project. His expertise and encouragement have been instrumental in shaping the direction and the quality of this project. In addition to this I would like to give my sincere gratitude to Bindura University of Science Education for providing necessary resources and conducive environment for my research project. Special thanks to physics department for their cooperation and allowing me to conduct various experiments and observation in their facility. A heartfelt thank you to students and teachers who participated in surveys and interviews. You insights and experiences were crucial in understanding real world impact of ICT in physics education. I would also like to acknowledge the support of my family and friends whose encouragement and understanding kept me motivated throughout this journey finally, am indebted to the numerous scholars and researchers whose work laid the foundation of my study. Exploring the fascinating intersection of ITC and physics education has been an enlightening experience, and I hope this research contributes to the ongoing discourse in meaningful ways. Thank you all for support and encouragement.

Dedication:

This research project is dedicated to all educators and students who strive for excellence in the pursuit of knowledge. To the visionary teachers who embrace the integration of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in their teaching practices, your innovative spirit lights the path toward a brighter and more engaging educational future. To the students who eagerly explore the world of physics with curiosity and determination, may this project inspire you to see the endless possibilities that technology brings to your learning journey. Your dedication to learning and teaching fuels the drive for continual improvement and transformation in education.

## **APPROVAL FORM**

## **BINDURA UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE EDUCATION**

The undersigned certify that they have read and recommend to the Bindura University of Science Education for acceptance of a research project titled: The benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning ordinary level physics *A case study at Machaya high*, *Hoya secondary and sone secondary in Muzarabani district in Mashonaland province done by Chigwenjere Nomore Ellah* in partial fulfilment of the Bachelor of Science Education Honors

Degree in Physics

Supervisor: Dr N. Zezekwa

Aperena 11/06/24

Chairperson Dr Z. Mudzima

14/10/24

## **RELEASE FORM**

## BINDURA UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE EDUCATION

Name of the researcher:

Chigwenjere Nomore E

Registration Number: B1026834

A research project on the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning ordinary level physics

Bachelor of Science Education Honors Degree in (physics) 2024

Permission is hereby granted to Bindura University of Science Education to produce single copies of this project and lend or sell such copies for scholarly purpose only. The author reserves other publication rights and neither the research project nor extensive extract from it be printed or otherwise reproduced without the authors' written permission.

Signature:		
21811010101	Allow	

Machaya Secondary School

Post Office Box 670

Muzarabani

TABLE OF CONTENTS			
ABSTRACTi	•••••	•••••	•••••
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS			
ii DEDICATION			
defined.		2001111111	1100
APPROVAL FORM			V
RELEASE FORM			
vi	•••••	••••••	•••••
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION1			
1.2 Background of the Study1			•••••
1.3 Statement of the Study	,		3
<ul><li>1.4 Research Questions of the Study</li><li>3</li></ul>			
<ul><li>1.5 Objectives of the Study</li><li>3</li></ul>			
I.6 Purpose of the Study4			
1.7 Assumptions of the Study	,		4
1.8 Significance of the Study			5
<ul><li>1.9 Delimitations</li><li>5</li></ul>			
1.10 Limitations of the Study6			
1.11 Definition of Key Terms			7
1.12 Organization of the Study	,		7
1.13 Chapter Summary 7			•••••
CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW			8
<ul><li>2.1 Introduction</li><li>8</li></ul>			
<ul><li>2.3 Theoretical Framework</li><li>9</li></ul>			•••••
2.4 Teacher Perceptions			10
2.5 Level of computer skills			10

2.6 Student engagement	
2.7 Specific benefits	
2.8 Challenge's faced	
2.9 Research gaps 13	
<ul><li>2.10 Chapter Summary</li><li>13</li></ul>	
CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Research Philosophy	15
3.3 Research Approach	
<ul><li>3.4 Research Design</li><li>17</li></ul>	
<ul><li>3.5 Study Population</li><li>3.6 Sampling Techniques</li></ul>	
3.7 Sample Size	
<ul><li>3.8 Data Collection Methods</li><li>19</li></ul>	
3.9 Trustworthiness of the Findings	
3.10 Data Analysis	
3.1 1 Ethical Considerations	
<ul><li>3.1 Chapter Summary</li><li>22</li></ul>	
CHAPTER FOUR: DATA PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS	22
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Demographic Profile of the Participants	
4.3 Level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in	
23	
4.4.1 Thematic Analysis	
4.5.1 Benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary l	evel physics 28
4.5.1 Thematic Analysis	
4.6 Challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the tea ordinary level physics	
4.6.1 Thematic Analysis	

4.7 Discussion of Results
<ul><li>4.7.1 The level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom</li><li>35</li></ul>
4.7.2 Perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics
4.7.3 Benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics 38
<ul><li>4.7.4 Challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics</li></ul>
<ul><li>4.9 Chapter Summary</li><li>40</li></ul>
CHAPTER FIVE : SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Summary of the Study
5.3 Summary of findings
5.4 Conclusion
5.5 Recommendations of the Study
5.6 Areas of Further Studies
References
47

#### **CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION**

## **1.1 Introduction**

Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in the teaching and learning of Ordinary Level Physics has become increasingly important in today's digital age. ICT refers to the use of technological tools and resources that facilitate the acquisition, organization, and exchange of information. In the field of education, ICT has the potential to enhance the teaching and learning experience by providing students with access to a wide range of educational resources, promoting active and collaborative learning, and improving critical thinking skills.

Numerous studies have explored the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of Physics at the Ordinary Level. One such study conducted by Smith and Johnson (2018) found that the use of educational software and simulations in Physics classrooms led to increased student engagement and motivation. The study also revealed that ICT integration helped students develop a deeper understanding of complex Physics concepts. Another study by Brown et al. (2019) examined the impact of using online interactive resources in Physics instruction. The findings showed that students who had access to these resources demonstrated improved problem-solving skills and higher achievement levels compared to those who did not. Furthermore, a meta-analysis conducted by Wang and Li (2020) examined a wide range of studies on ICT integration in Physics education. The analysis revealed that ICT integration positively influenced students' conceptual understanding, problem-solving abilities, and overall academic performance. In conclusion, integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of Ordinary Level Physics offers various benefits such as increased student engagement, improved understanding of complex concepts, enhanced problem-solving skills, and higher academic achievement. These findings highlight the importance of incorporating ICT tools and resources in Physics classrooms to create a more effective and interactive learning environment

## 1.2 Background of the Study

According to Chen and Lin (2018), the integration of ICT in education has gained significant attention due to its potential to enhance teaching and learning why experiences. The use of ICT tools in the context of teaching and learning Ordinary Level Physics can provide students with interactive and dynamic learning experiences. In a study by Kozma (2016), it was found

that integrating ICT in Physics education can help students develop critical thinking and problem-solving skills. The use of simulation software and virtual experiments can provide students with hands-on experiences that are not always possible in traditional classroom settings. The integration of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in teaching and learning Ordinary Level Physics presents a transformative approach to education. This background study explores the multifaceted benefits of ICT integration, drawing on various academic sources to substantiate its impact. Here are the key points supported by in-text citations:

ICT tools facilitate the visualization of complex physics concepts, making them more understandable for students. Simulations and animations can demystify abstract principles, leading to a deeper comprehension (Smith & Doe, 2020). The use of ICT in physics education can significantly increase student engagement and motivation. Interactive tools and resources cater to different learning styles, keeping students more involved in the learning process (Johnson et al., 2021). Studies have shown a positive correlation between the integration of ICT in physics education and students' academic performance. Technologyenhanced learning environments offer personalized learning experiences, which can lead to better grades and understanding (Williams & Davis, 2019).

Integrating ICT in teaching Ordinary Level Physics fosters critical thinking, problem-solving, and digital literacy skills. These are essential competencies in the modern world, preparing students for future challenges and opportunities (Martinez & Clark, 2018). ICT can make physics education more accessible and inclusive, providing learning opportunities for students with diverse needs and backgrounds. Digital resources can be adapted to accommodate different learners, ensuring that education is equitable (Brown & Green, 2022). ICT tools support collaborative learning environments where students can share ideas, work on projects together, and learn from each other. This collaborative approach promotes a deeper understanding and appreciation of physics concepts (Anderson & Thompson, 2020). The integration of ICT in teaching physics can lead to more efficient use of educational resources. Digital materials can be easily updated and shared, reducing the reliance on traditional textbooks and physical resources (Lee & Carter, 2021).

## 1.3 Statement of the Study

The purpose of this study is to investigate the advantages and positive impact of incorporating Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in the teaching and learning process of Ordinary Level Physics. The study aims to explore how the use of ICT tools and resources can enhance students' understanding, engagement, and achievement in the subject.

## 1.4 Research Questions of the Study

The main research questions or aims for the study on the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics could include:

- 1. What are the level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom?
- 2. What is the perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics?
- 3. What are the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics?
- 4. What are challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics?

## 1.5 Objectives of the Study

The objectives of a study on the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics could include:

- 1. To determine the level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom
- 2. To assess the perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics
- 3. To establish benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics
- 4. To evaluate challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics

## I.6 Purpose of the Study

The purpose of the study on the topic of the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics is to analyze teachers' perceptions on the effectiveness of ICT integration in the classroom. The study aims to identify primary teachers' level of computer skills and to assess the impact of ICT on teaching and learning processes. The benefits of integrating ICT in teaching include incorporating text with activity explanation, use of virtual experiments, enhancing interactive learning, and tailored training. The use of ICT in education strengthens students' abilities, boosts learning engagements, and improves students' citation and referencing skills. The study also highlights the importance of teachers in the adoption, use, and integration of ICT in the teaching-learning process.

Research conducted by Morrison et al. (2017) emphasized the importance of incorporating ICT in Physics education to bridge the gap between abstract concepts and real-world applications. By using multimedia resources and interactive simulations, students can better understand the relevance of Physics in their everyday lives. A study by Lai and Bower (2019) explored the impact of ICT integration on student motivation and engagement in Physics education. The findings revealed that the use of ICT tools, such as online discussion forums and multimedia presentations, increased student participation and fostered a collaborative learning environment. According to the research conducted by Tondeur et al. (2018), the integration of ICT in education can also improve teacher effectiveness. By utilizing ICT tools, teachers can access a wide range of resources, adapt instructional materials to meet individual student needs, and provide timely feedback to enhance the learning process.

## 1.7 Assumptions of the Study

1. Assumption: Students have access to the necessary ICT tools and resources outside of the classroom.

2. Assumption: Teachers have sufficient training and support to effectively integrate ICT in their physics instruction.

3. Assumption: ICT integration is implemented consistently and with fidelity across different physics classrooms.

4. Assumption: Students' prior knowledge and academic backgrounds are taken into consideration when assessing the impact of ICT integration.

5. Assumption: There is a positive correlation between students' engagement with ICTbased learning activities and their academic performance in physics.

## 1.8 Significance of the Study

The significance of studying the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of Ordinary Level Physics is multifaceted. Firstly, ICT tools such as simulations, animations, and virtual laboratories can enhance students' understanding by providing visual and interactive learning experiences. This can help students grasp complex concepts more easily and retain the information for longer periods of time. Secondly, integrating ICT in the teaching of physics can make the learning process more engaging and interactive. Students can actively participate in experiments, simulations, and problem-solving activities, which can boost their motivation and interest in the subject. This can lead to improved academic performance and higher student engagement in the classroom.

Furthermore, ICT integration can also promote collaborative learning among students. Through online discussion forums, video conferencing, and collaborative projects, students can work together, share ideas, and learn from each other's perspectives. This can foster critical thinking, teamwork, and communication skills, which are essential for success in the 21st-century workforce. Lastly, studying the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of Ordinary Level Physics is important for educational policymakers and curriculum developers. It can provide evidence-based insights on the effectiveness of ICT tools and strategies, guiding decisions on the allocation of resources and the development of appropriate policies to enhance physics education.

## **1.9 Delimitations**

When considering the delimitations of a study on the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics, some possible boundaries or limitations could include:

1. Grade level limitation: The study focuses specifically on a particular grade level within the ordinary level physics curriculum, such as form 3

2. Context limitation: The study focuses on a specific educational setting, such as a particular school or district, to examine the impact of ICT integration within that specific context.

3. Time limitation: The study focuses on a specific time period, such as a semester to assess the short-term effects of ICT integration on teaching and learning outcomes.

4. Technology limitation: The study may focus on specific ICT tools or technologies used in the teaching and learning of physics, such as interactive simulations or online resources, rather than considering a broad range of ICT applications.

## 1.10 Limitations of the Study

The limitations of a study on the topic "The Benefits of Integrating ICT in Teaching and Learning Ordinary Level Physics" can vary depending on the specific research conducted. However, here are some common limitations that researchers may encounter:

1. Sample Size: The study may have a small sample size, which could limit the generalizability of the findings to a larger population.

2. Sample Selection Bias: There might be a bias in the selection of participants, which could affect the representativeness of the sample.

3. Time Constraints: The study may have been conducted over a limited period, which could limit the ability to fully assess the long-term benefits of integrating ICT in teaching and learning.

4. Resource Limitations: The study may have been constrained by limited resources, such as funding or access to technology, which could impact the implementation of ICT in the classroom.

5. Measurement Issues: The study may have used self-report measures or subjective assessments, which could introduce measurement bias or inaccuracies.

6. External Validity: The study may have been conducted in a specific context or setting, which could limit the generalizability of the findings it to other educational environments

## 1.11 Definition of Key Terms

6

**ICT:** Information and Communication Technology refers to the use of digital tools and resources for communication, information processing, and storage.

**Teaching and Learning:** The process of imparting knowledge and skills to students, and the acquisition of knowledge and skills by students through instruction and practice.

**Ordinary Level Physics:** The study of physics at the secondary school level, typically taken by students aged 14-16 years

## 1.12 Organization of the Study

This study is organized into several chapters. Chapter One provides an introduction to the topic, presents the background, aims, objectives, purpose, problem statement, hypothesis, significance, delimitations, limitations, and definition of key terms. Chapter Two focuses on the literature review, Chapter Three describes the research methodology, Chapter Four presents the findings and analysis, and Chapter Five concludes the study with a summary, conclusions, and recommendations.

## **1.13 Chapter Summary**

This chapter provided an introduction to the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of Ordinary Level Physics. It presented the background of the study, aims, objectives, purpose, problem statement, hypothesis, significance, delimitati of key terms. The subsequent chapters will delve deeper into the literature review, research methodology, findings, and analysis.

#### **CHAPTER TWO: LITERATURE REVIEW**

## **2.1 Introduction**

The Benefits of Integrating ICT in the Teaching and Learning of Ordinary Level Physics explores the advantages of incorporating Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in the field of physics education. ICT refers to the use of digital devices, software applications, and the internet to enhance teaching and learning experiences. By integrating ICT into the teaching and learning of physics, educators can create interactive and engaging lessons that stimulate students' interest and improve their understanding of complex concepts. The use of multimedia resources, such as videos, simulations, and interactive presentations, allows students to visualize abstract ideas and develop a deeper understanding of physics principles.

Furthermore, ICT tools provide opportunities for collaborative learning, as students can work together on projects, share ideas, and engage in discussions using online platforms. This promotes active participation and encourages students to take ownership of their learning. Several studies have shown the positive impact of ICT integration in physics education. For example, a study conducted by Smith et al. (2017) found that students who used ICT tools in their physics classes showed improved problem-solving skills and higher levels of engagement compared to those who relied solely on traditional teaching methods.

Another research by Johnson and Brown (2018) demonstrated that ICT integration in physics education led to increased student motivation and improved academic performance. The use of ICT tools also helped students develop important 21st-century skills, such as critical thinking, digital literacy, and communication. In conclusion, the integration of ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics offers numerous benefits to both educators and students. It enhances student engagement, facilitates visualization of abstract concepts, promotes collaborative learning, and develops essential skills for the digital age.

## **2.3 Theoretical Framework**

In exploring the benefits of integrating Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in the teaching and learning of Ordinary Level Physics, several key theoretical frameworks can be considered to guide and support this endeavor. One such framework is the Technological Pedagogical Content Knowledge (TPACK) model, which emphasizes the interconnected nature of technology, pedagogy, and content knowledge in educational contexts (Koehler & Mishra, 2009). TPACK provides a structured approach for teachers to effectively incorporate ICT tools and resources to enhance their teaching practices and improve student learning outcomes in physics. Additionally, the Cognitive Load Theory (CLT) offers insights into how ICT can be used to manage students' cognitive resources more efficiently during instruction, thus optimizing the learning process (Sweller, 2010). By utilizing multimedia tools and simulations, teachers can reduce extraneous cognitive load and better focus students' attention on the essential physics concepts. Furthermore, the Constructivist Learning Theory posits that learners actively construct their own understanding of the world through interaction with their environment (Jonassen, 1991). When ICT is integrated into physics instruction, students have opportunities to engage in authentic, inquiry-based activities that promote active learning and meaningful conceptual development. The Theory of Multiple Intelligences suggests that students possess diverse cognitive strengths and learning preferences (Gardner, 2006). By incorporating a variety of ICT resources such as interactive simulations, online discussions, and multimedia presentations, teachers can cater to the unique intelligences and abilities of all learners in the physics classroom. Finally, the Social Cognitive Theory underscores the importance of social interactions and observational learning in shaping students' behaviors and attitudes (Bandura, 1986). Through collaborative online platforms and virtual labs, students can engage in collaborative problem-solving tasks, peer feedback, and model-based reasoning, fostering a supportive learning community that encourages knowledge sharing and coconstruction. By leveraging these theoretical frameworks, educators can harness the full potential of ICT to create transformative learning experiences in Ordinary Level Physics, enabling students to

## **2.4 Teacher Perceptions**

The perceptions of teachers regarding the integration of ICT in teaching and learning Ordinary Level Physics can vary. According to a study conducted by Almekhlafi and Almeqdadi (2010), some teachers view ICT as a powerful tool that can enhance student engagement and understanding in physics. They believe that incorporating technology, such as computer simulations and interactive multimedia, can make abstract concepts more tangible and facilitate active learning.

Furthermore, a research article by Tondeur et al. (2011) found that teachers who have positive attitudes towards ICT integration in education perceive it as a means to create more student-centered and collaborative learning environments. These teachers value the potential of ICT tools, such as online resources, virtual laboratories, and educational software, to provide students with personalized learning experiences and opportunities for independent exploration.

On the other hand, some teachers may have reservations about ICT integration. In a study by Ertmer (2005), it was found that teachers who are less confident in their own technological skills and lack access to reliable ICT resources may perceive the integration of technology as challenging and time-consuming. They may also worry about potential disruptions in the classroom and the need for additional training and support. It is important to note that the perceptions of teachers regarding ICT integration can be influenced by various factors, such as their experience, training, access to resources, and the specific context in which they teach.

## 2.5 Level of computer skills

However, the level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom can vary. Some teachers may have advanced computer skills and be proficient in using technology in their teaching, while others may have limited skills and struggle to incorporate ICT effectively. This variation can be influenced by factors such as age, experience, and access to training and resources.

#### 2.6 Student engagement

The integration of ICT (Information and Communication Technology) in teaching and learning processes has a significant impact on student engagement and learning outcomes in ordinary level physics. Research studies have shown that the use of ICT tools such as simulations, virtual labs, interactive multimedia presentations, and online resources can enhance students' understanding and make learning more interactive and enjoyable.

One study by Kaur and Sidhu (2018) found that students who were exposed to ICT-based learning experiences in physics showed higher levels of engagement and motivation compared to traditional methods. The use of simulations and virtual labs allowed students to explore complex concepts through experimentation and visualization, leading to better comprehension

and retention of knowledge. Furthermore, ICT integration promotes active learning and student-centered approaches. It encourages students to take ownership of their learning by providing them with opportunities to explore, analyze, and solve problems independently. This not only improves their critical thinking and problem-solving skills but also fosters creativity and innovation.

Moreover, ICT tools enable personalized learning experiences, catering to individual students' needs and learning styles. Adaptive learning platforms and online resources can provide targeted feedback and support, helping students to bridge their learning gaps and achieve better learning outcomes. In conclusion, the integration of ICT in teaching and learning processes has a positive impact on student engagement and learning outcomes in ordinary level physics. It enhances understanding, promotes active learning, and provides personalized learning experiences. It is vital for educators to continue exploring and utilizing ICT tools to create a dynamic and effective learning environment.

## 2.7 Specific benefits

Authors have highlighted several specific benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics. According to research conducted by Smith and Clark (2018), the use of ICT tools in physics education enhances students' motivation and engagement, leading to improved learning outcomes. They found that interactive simulations and virtual experiments help students visualize complex concepts, leading to a deeper understanding of physics principles.

Furthermore, a study by Johnson and Brown (2019) emphasized that integrating ICT in physics education improves students' problem-solving skills. Through the use of online resources, students are exposed to real-world applications of physics concepts, enabling them to apply their knowledge in practical situations. This strengthens their critical thinking abilities and prepares them for future challenges in the field of physics.

Additionally, according to a research article by Thompson et al. (2020), ICT integration in physics education promotes collaborative learning. Online discussion forums and collaborative platforms allow students to work together, exchange ideas, and solve problems collectively. This fosters teamwork and communication skills, which are crucial in the scientific community.

Moreover, authors like Davis and Smith (2017) have highlighted the importance of ICT in providing access to a wide range of resources for self-directed learning. Through online tutorials, educational apps, and interactive websites, students can explore physics topics beyond the classroom curriculum, catering to their individual interests and learning styles. These studies collectively emphasize the positive impact of ICT integration in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics. It enhances student motivation, improves problemsolving skills, encourages collaboration, and provides access to diverse learning resources.

## 2.8 Challenge's faced

Integrating ICT in teaching and learning at the ordinary level physics has been a topic of interest among scholars. According to a study by Johnson, Adams, and Cummins (2012), teachers face several challenges when integrating ICT in the classroom. These challenges include lack of adequate training and professional development opportunities, limited access to ICT resources and infrastructure, resistance to change from teachers and students, and difficulties in effectively integrating ICT into the curriculum. Another study by Kozma (2008) also highlighted the challenges faced by teachers in integrating ICT in education. These challenges include the complexity of ICT tools and software, the need for continuous technical support, and the time required to effectively integrate ICT into teaching practices. It is important to note that while these challenges exist, the benefits of integrating ICT in teaching and learning are significant. ICT can enhance student engagement, facilitate personalized learning, and provide access to a wide range of resources and information.

#### 2.9 Research gaps

Research on the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics has identified several gaps that require further investigation. Some of these research gaps include:

1. Impact on student engagement and motivation: While studies have shown positive effects of ICT integration on student engagement and motivation in general, there is a need for

more research specifically focusing on the impact of ICT on students' engagement and motivation in the context of learning physics at the ordinary level.

2. Teacher professional development: Although there is evidence suggesting that ICT integration can enhance teaching practices, there is a lack of research exploring the specific professional development needs of physics teachers for effective integration of ICT in their classrooms.

3. Assessment and evaluation: Research gaps exist in the area of assessing and evaluating the effectiveness of ICT integration in teaching and learning ordinary level physics. More studies are needed to develop appropriate assessment tools and strategies to measure the impact of ICT on student learning outcomes in physics.

## 2.10 Chapter Summary

The literature review on the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of Ordinary Level Physics highlights the positive impact of technology on students' academic performance and engagement. Several studies have shown that incorporating ICT tools such as simulations, animations, and interactive software in physics instruction enhances students' conceptual understanding, problem-solving skills, and motivation.

One study conducted by Smith and Johnson (2018) found that students who received ICTbased instruction in physics demonstrated improved performance on exams compared to those who received traditional instruction. The use of ICT tools allowed students to visualize abstract concepts, conduct virtual experiments, and receive immediate feedback, which contributed to a deeper understanding of the subject matter.

Furthermore, research by Brown et al. (2019) indicated that integrating ICT in physics classrooms promotes active learning and student participation. The use of online discussion forums, collaborative projects, and virtual simulations encouraged students to actively engage with the content, ask questions, and share their ideas. This collaborative learning environment fostered critical thinking skills and enhanced students' ability to communicate and collaborate effectively.

In conclusion, the literature review supports the idea that integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of Ordinary Level Physics brings numerous benefits. It enhances students' conceptual understanding, problem-solving skills, motivation, and active engagement. By incorporating ICT tools into physics instruction, educators can create an interactive and dynamic learning environment that maximizes student learning outcomes.

## **CHAPTER THREE: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

#### 3.1 Introduction

Research methodology encompasses the comprehensive strategies and procedures applied in conducting research (Hirose & Creswell, 2023). It includes aspects such as research design, population and sampling, variables, data analysis techniques, and the measures taken to ensure validity and reliability, as well as reporting methods. This chapter elaborates on the data collection methods used and outlines the data analysis techniques employed. Additionally, it discusses the validity and reliability of the research methods, thereby ensuring the credibility of the study's findings.

## 3.2 Research Philosophy

The study used Interpretivism research philosophy. Interpretivism research philosophy is a qualitative approach that emphasized understanding the subjective meanings and interpretations individuals attached to their experiences and social contexts (Moustakas, 2020). It focused on exploring how people made sense of their world and the social phenomena within it. This philosophy was rooted in the belief that reality was socially constructed and that researchers needed to delve into the context and perspectives of participants to gain meaningful insights (Creswell &Poth, 2021). Applying interpretivism to the study on the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics was appropriate for several reasons. Firstly, it allowed for an in-depth exploration of teachers' attitudes and perceptions towards ICT in physics education, which were inherently subjective and context-dependent. By using interpretivism, the study captured the critical ways in which ICT impacted students' understanding and performance, going beyond mere quantitative measures to include qualitative insights into their learning experiences.

Secondly, interpretivism supported the investigation of the effectiveness of different ICT tools and resources from the perspective of the users. It enabled the researcher to gather rich, detailed data on how these tools were perceived and utilized in the classroom, thereby providing a deeper understanding of their practical benefits and limitations. Lastly, interpretivism was well-suited for identifying the challenges and barriers faced in implementing ICT integration. This approach allowed for a comprehensive examination of the contextual factors and personal experiences that influenced the integration process, leading to more informed and contextually relevant recommendations and strategies. By adopting an interpretivist approach, the study aligned with the need to understand the complex and multifaceted nature of ICT integration in physics education, ensuring that the findings were grounded in the real-world experiences of teachers and students (Smith, 2020; Denzin & Lincoln, 2021).

## **3.3 Research Approach**

The study adopted a qualitative research approach, which was well-suited for exploring the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics. This approach allowed for a comprehensive understanding of the complex, context-dependent phenomena associated with ICT integration. By using qualitative methods, the study could delve deeply into the subjective experiences, attitudes, and perceptions of both teachers and students regarding the use of ICT in physics education. This was crucial for capturing the nuanced ways in which ICT tools and resources influenced students' understanding and performance in physics, providing insights that quantitative methods might miss (Creswell &Poth, 2021).

Furthermore, the qualitative approach facilitated an in-depth investigation into the effectiveness of various ICT tools, enabling the researcher to gather detailed data on their practical application and impact in the classroom. This approach also allowed for the identification of challenges and barriers to ICT integration, as it emphasized the importance of context and individual experiences, thereby leading to more contextually relevant recommendations and strategies (Smith, 2020). By adopting a qualitative research approach, the study ensured that the findings were rich, detailed, and grounded in the real-world experiences of the participants, aligning with the goals of understanding and improving ICT integration in physics education (Denzin & Lincoln, 2021).

#### **3.4 Research Design**

Phenomenological research design is a qualitative approach that focuses on understanding and describing the lived experiences of individuals regarding a particular phenomenon (Moustakas,

2020). It aims to uncover the essence and meaning of these experiences from the perspective of the participants (Creswell &Poth, 2021). This design is characterized by its emphasis on exploring how individuals perceive and make sense of their experiences, often through in-depth interviews and detailed analysis of personal narratives (Moustakas, 2020).

Applying phenomenological research design to the study on the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics was particularly appropriate for several reasons. Firstly, it allowed for a deep exploration of the personal experiences and perceptions of both teachers and students regarding ICT use in physics education. By capturing these lived experiences, the study provided rich, nuanced insights into how ICT integration affected students' understanding and performance in physics, beyond what could be measured quantitatively (Smith, 2020). Secondly, the phenomenological approach was effective in investigating the effectiveness of various ICT tools and resources. By understanding how these tools were experienced and perceived by the users, the study could identify which tools were most beneficial and why, providing detailed, user-centered evaluations (Van Manen, 2021).

Additionally, this research design facilitated the exploration of the attitudes and perceptions of both teachers and students towards ICT, capturing the subjective dimensions of their experiences and the contextual factors influencing their views. It also helped in identifying the challenges and barriers faced in implementing ICT integration by revealing the personal and contextual difficulties encountered by participants, thus leading to more informed and practical recommendations and strategies (Creswell &Poth, 2021). By using a phenomenological research design, the study ensured that the findings were grounded in the authentic experiences of the participants, providing a comprehensive and empathetic understanding of the benefits and challenges of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics.

## **3.5 Study Population**

The study population consisted of all school heads, heads of departments, and teachers who taught physics at the ordinary level from three schools in Muzarabani District: Hoya Secondary School, Sone High School, and Machaya High School, totaling 38 participants.

The inclusion of school heads, heads of departments, and teachers who taught physics in the study population was justified for several reasons. Firstly, school heads provided a comprehensive overview of the institutional support and administrative perspectives on ICT integration, including policies, resources, and overall implementation strategies within their schools. Their insights were crucial for understanding the broader context and institutional readiness for ICT integration in physics education. Secondly, heads of departments were integral as they were directly responsible for the curriculum and instructional strategies within their their respective departments. Their perspectives on the effectiveness of ICT tools, resource allocation, and the challenges faced in their departments offered valuable information on the practical aspects of integrating ICT into physics teaching.

Lastly, teachers who taught physics were the primary users of ICT tools in the classroom and directly interacted with students. Their firsthand experiences, challenges, and successes provided detailed and practical insights into the day-to-day application of ICT in teaching physics. They could share specific examples of how ICT impacted student understanding and performance, as well as their own professional development and teaching practices. Including these three groups ensured a comprehensive understanding of the benefits and challenges of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics, capturing perspectives from multiple levels within the school system (Creswell &Poth, 2021; Smith, 2020). This holistic approach was essential for developing well-rounded recommendations and strategies for effective ICT integration.

## **3.6 Sampling Techniques**

The study utilized purposive sampling to select participants. This technique was chosen because it allowed the researcher to intentionally select individuals who were most knowledgeable and experienced with the integration of ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics. Purposive sampling was particularly appropriate for this study as it aimed to achieve specific objectives and explore nuanced aspects of ICT integration. By selecting school heads, heads of departments, and physics teachers from the three schools in Muzarabani District, the study ensured that the participants had relevant insights and experiences that could provide rich, detailed data. This approach helped in obtaining a comprehensive understanding of the benefits and challenges of ICT integration in physics education, aligning with the study's goals (Mulisa, 2022).

## 3.7 Sample Size

Sample size denotes the number of individual observations or data points gathered from a broader population for a research study, experiment, or survey (Hirose & Creswell, 2023). In this study, the proposed sample size included 9 teachers and 4 key informants (school heads and heads of departments). However, the actual sample size was determined by the principle of saturation, meaning data collection continued until no new insights or themes emerged.

## **3.8 Data Collection Methods**

The study used a semi-structured interview guide to collect data, which was justified for several reasons. This approach blended predefined questions with the flexibility for openended discussions, enabling participants to deeply share their perspectives and experiences. Semi-structured interviews offer a balance between structured and unstructured approaches, providing the flexibility to explore topics in depth while ensuring that all key areas of interest are covered. This method was particularly suitable for the study as it allowed for probing deeper into the participants' experiences and perceptions regarding ICT integration in physics education. By using a semi-structured interview guide, the researcher could ask open-ended questions that facilitated detailed responses, capturing the nuanced and subjective aspects of how ICT impacted teaching and learning. This approach also enabled the interviewer to follow up on interesting points raised by participants, leading to richer and more comprehensive data (Creswell &Poth, 2021).

Additionally, semi-structured interviews were effective in creating a conversational environment, making participants feel more comfortable and willing to share their honest thoughts and experiences. This was crucial for obtaining authentic insights into the benefits and challenges of ICT integration from school heads, heads of departments, and teachers (Smith, 2020). The interviews for this study were conducted both in person and over the phone, based on logistical factors, availability, and participant preferences. Overall, the use of a semi-structured interview guide ensured that the data collected was both relevant and indepth, providing a thorough understanding of the study's objectives.

## **3.9** Trustworthiness of the Findings

The trustworthiness of the findings in this study was ensured through several rigorous strategies. Firstly, the study employed triangulation by using multiple data sources, including interviews with school heads, heads of departments, and physics teachers, to validate the findings from different perspectives (Creswell &Poth, 2021). This helped in cross-verifying the information and enhancing the credibility of the results.

Secondly, member checking was conducted, where participants were given the opportunity to review and confirm the accuracy of the transcribed data and the researcher's interpretations. This process ensured that the findings accurately reflected the participants' views and experiences (Lincoln & Guba, 2020). Additionally, the researcher maintained a detailed audit trail, documenting each step of the research process, from data collection to analysis. This provided transparency and allowed for an independent assessment of the study's procedures and conclusions, thereby strengthening the dependability of the findings (Merriam & Tisdell, 2020).

Lastly, to address potential biases, the researcher engaged in reflexive practice, continually reflecting on their own assumptions and the influence these might have on the research process. This reflexivity helped in maintaining objectivity and ensuring the confirmability of the study's findings (Patton, 2021). By employing these strategies, the study ensured that its findings were trustworthy, providing a reliable and valid understanding of the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics.

#### 3.10 Data Analysis

Thematic data analysis was utilized to analyze the collected data. This method involved identifying, analyzing, and reporting patterns (themes) within the data, which allowed for a detailed examination of the participants' experiences and perceptions. The process began with familiarization, where the researcher immersed themselves in the data by reading and rereading transcripts to gain a comprehensive understanding. Next, initial codes were generated by systematically highlighting significant features of the data relevant to the research questions. These codes were then grouped into potential themes, which were reviewed and refined to ensure they accurately represented the data and captured the key patterns.

The final step involved defining and naming the themes, ensuring they provided a coherent and insightful account of the data. Thematic analysis was particularly suitable for this study as it enabled the researcher to organize and interpret complex qualitative data in a structured manner, facilitating the identification of recurring patterns and the extraction of meaningful insights regarding the integration of ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics (Braun & Clarke, 2021).

## 3.1 1 Ethical Considerations

Ethical considerations were paramount in this study to ensure the protection and respect of all participants involved. Firstly, informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to data collection. They were provided with detailed information about the study's purpose, procedures, potential risks, and benefits, ensuring that they fully understood their involvement and had the opportunity to ask questions. Consent forms were signed to document their agreement to participate voluntarily. Confidentiality and anonymity were strictly maintained to protect the privacy of participants. Personal identifiers were removed from the data, and pseudonyms were used in place of actual names in all records and reports. Data was stored securely, accessible only to the research team, and digital files were encrypted to prevent unauthorized access.

The study also adhered to ethical guidelines by ensuring that participants could withdraw from the study at any time without any negative consequences. This respect for participants' autonomy reinforced the voluntary nature of their involvement. Additionally, ethical approval was obtained from the university ethics committee, ensuring that the study met all necessary ethical standards and guidelines. This included a thorough review of the study's methodology, consent process, and data protection measures to safeguard participants' rights and well-being (Resnik, 2020). By incorporating these ethical considerations, the study ensured that it was conducted with integrity, respect, and responsibility, protecting the dignity and privacy of all participants involved.

## **3.1 Chapter Summary**

This chapter highlighted the use of qualitative research methodologies in the study. It outlined the research design, target population, sampling techniques, sample size, research instruments, data collection procedures, and data analysis methods. The next chapter will delve into a detailed analysis, presentation, and interpretation of the collected data.

## **CHAPTER FOUR: DATA PRESENTATION AND ANALYSIS**

## 4.1 Introduction

The primary aim of this study was to explore the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics. This chapter presents and analyses the collected data, discussing key findings. The results are presented in a narrative format, emphasizing thematic elements to reflect the perspectives of participants gathered during interview sessions.

#### 4.2 Demographic Profile of the Participants

The study involved nine teachers and four key informants (school heads and heads of departments) who discussed the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics. All respondents had a tertiary level of education, with key informants predominantly holding higher education qualifications. This educational background suggests that the majority of respondents were knowledgeable, adding credibility to their insights. Participants were also asked about their experience in the education sector and in teaching ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District, with most having over five years of experience. This extensive involvement indicates that the participants were well-informed about the topic due to their long-term engagement in related activities.

## **4.3 Level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom**

This study aims to determine the level of computer skills among teachers and their impact on ICT integration in the classroom in secondary schools in Muzarabani District. The study

focuses on teachers, school heads, and heads of departments from Hoya Secondary School, Sone High School, and Machaya High School. Interviews were conducted with selected teachers and key informants (school heads and heads of departments) to gather insights into their computer skills and the extent to which these skills influence their use of ICT in teaching.

## 4.3.1 Thematic Analysis

#### Theme 1: Levels of Computer Skills among Teachers

One of the primary themes emerging from the interviews is the varying levels of computer skills among teachers. While some teachers demonstrate a high level of proficiency, many others exhibit only basic skills. This disparity impacts their ability to integrate ICT effectively into their teaching practices.

Many teachers admitted to having limited exposure to computer training. A teacher from Hoya Secondary School stated, "I have only received basic training on how to use Microsoft Word and PowerPoint, but I still struggle with more advanced software and applications" (Teacher 1). This sentiment was echoed by a teacher from Sone High School who mentioned, "Most of us can perform basic tasks, but when it comes to using technology to enhance learning, we are not well-equipped" (Teacher 2). However, there are also examples of teachers who are more proficient. A teacher from Machaya High School shared, "I have taken several courses on ICT and feel quite comfortable using different educational technologies. I try to incorporate these tools into my lessons as much as possible" (Teacher 3). These varying levels of skills highlight the need for more comprehensive and continuous professional development in ICT for teachers.

#### **Theme 2: Barriers to ICT Integration**

The second theme revolves around the barriers that hinder the effective integration of ICT in classrooms. These barriers include inadequate training, lack of resources, and infrastructural challenges.

Inadequate training emerged as a significant barrier. School heads and department heads pointed out the insufficient professional development opportunities. "There is a dire need for

regular and more intensive training programs for our teachers. Without this, it is difficult to expect effective ICT integration" (Head of Department 1).

Additionally, the lack of resources was a recurrent issue. A school head from Sone High School mentioned, "We simply do not have enough computers or reliable internet access for all our teachers and students. This severely limits what we can do with ICT in the classroom" (School Head 1). A similar concern was raised by another school head from Machaya High School, who said, "*Even when teachers are willing and skilled, the lack of resources makes it nearly impossible to implement ICT-based learning effectively*" (School Head 2). Infrastructural challenges also play a significant role. A teacher from Hoya Secondary School noted, "*The electricity supply in our area is erratic, which affects our ability to use ICT tools consistently*" (Teacher 4). These barriers collectively hinder the full potential of ICT integration in teaching and learning.

## **Theme 3: Impact of Computer Skills on Teaching Practices**

The impact of computer skills on teaching practices is another critical theme. Teachers with higher computer skills tend to use ICT more effectively and creatively in their teaching. Teachers who are proficient in ICT reported using a variety of tools to enhance their lessons. "*I use interactive whiteboards, online resources, and educational software to make my lessons more engaging and interactive,*" said a teacher from Machaya High School (Teacher 3). This approach not only makes learning more interesting but also helps students grasp complex concepts more easily. Conversely, teachers with limited computer skills are less likely to use ICT in their classrooms. A teacher from Hoya Secondary School admitted, "*I rarely use technology in my lessons because I am not confident in my skills. I stick to traditional teaching methods*" (Teacher 1). This reluctance to use ICT due to lack of skills limits the students' exposure to modern educational tools and techniques.

## **Theme 4: Recommendations for Improvement**

The final theme focuses on the recommendations for improving ICT integration in the classroom. These recommendations emphasize the need for more training, better resources, and supportive infrastructure. Many interviewees highlighted the need for ongoing professional

development. "Continuous training is crucial. We need regular workshops and courses to keep our skills updated and learn new technologies" (Head of Department 2). Additionally, there is a call for more practical, hands-on training sessions. A teacher from

Sone High School suggested, "Training should be more practical, allowing us to apply what we learn immediately in our classrooms" (Teacher 2).

Improving resources is another key recommendation. "We need more computers, reliable internet, and access to a variety of educational software," said a school head from Hoya Secondary School (School Head 1). Ensuring that every school is adequately equipped will go a long way in facilitating effective ICT integration. Lastly, addressing infrastructural issues is vital. "Improving the electricity supply and ensuring consistent internet connectivity are essential steps towards better ICT integration," stated a school head from Machaya High School (School Head 2). These improvements will provide a stable environment where teachers can confidently use ICT tools.

The interviews reveal a clear need for a more integrated and holistic approach to ICT integration in Muzarabani District's secondary schools. While there are pockets of proficiency and willingness among teachers, the overall effectiveness of ICT integration is hampered by limited skills, inadequate resources, and infrastructural challenges. Addressing these issues through comprehensive training, improved resources, and infrastructural support is essential for fostering a more technology-enhanced educational environment. By implementing these recommendations, Muzarabani District can move towards a more modern, effective, and engaging approach to education that leverages the full potential of ICT.

# 4.4 The perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics

This study aims to assess the perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District. The focus was again on teachers, school heads, and heads of departments from Hoya Secondary School, Sone High School, and Machaya High School. The thematic analysis of these interviews provides a comprehensive understanding of the perceived effectiveness of ICT in teaching physics.

## **4.4.1 Thematic Analysis**

## **Theme 1: Enhanced Understanding of Complex Concepts**

A dominant theme that emerged from the interviews is the perceived effectiveness of ICT in enhancing student understanding of complex physics concepts. Teachers and school heads consistently highlighted how ICT tools, such as simulations and interactive presentations, make it easier for students to grasp difficult topics. Teacher 1 from Hoya Secondary School expressed, "*ICT integration is quite effective. It makes lessons more interactive and helps students understand complex concepts better.*" This sentiment is shared by Teacher 2 from Sone High School, who noted, "*I think it's very effective, especially in terms of visualizing difficult concepts.*" School Head 1 from Hoya Secondary School also emphasized the benefits, stating, "*ICT is a powerful tool in teaching physics. It aids in delivering complex content in a more understandable manner.*" These responses indicate that ICT is perceived as a valuable resource for simplifying and clarifying intricate physics topics, making them more accessible to students.

## **Theme 2: Increased Student Engagement**

Another key theme is the increased student engagement resulting from ICT integration. Teachers observed that the use of ICT tools makes learning more enjoyable and keeps students actively involved in the subject matter. Teacher 3 from Machaya High School remarked, "*ICT has a positive impact. It engages students more and makes lessons interesting.*" Similarly, Teacher 4 from Hoya Secondary School mentioned, "Students enjoy the interactive lessons, and it helps in clarifying difficult topics."

Head of Department 1 from Sone High School also noted the engagement aspect, stating, "*The integration is very beneficial. It not only enhances student engagement but also improves their understanding of abstract concepts.*" These comments highlight that ICT not only aids in comprehension but also keeps students motivated and interested in learning physics.

## **Theme 3: Visualization of Abstract Concepts**

The ability of ICT to help students visualize abstract concepts is another important theme. Teachers highlighted that ICT tools, such as simulations and animations, provide visual representations that make abstract physics principles more tangible. Teacher 3 from Machaya High School stated, "Using technology in my lessons has transformed the way I teach. It makes the content more interesting for the students and helps them understand difficult concepts better." This view is echoed by Teacher 4 from Hoya Secondary School, who shared, "The interactive tools help students see and understand concepts that are difficult to explain with just words." School Head 1 from Hoya Secondary School also emphasized the visualization benefits, saying, "ICT is a powerful tool in teaching physics. It aids in delivering complex content in a more understandable manner." These responses underline the importance of visual aids in making abstract physics concepts more concrete and comprehensible for students.

#### **Theme 4: Enhancement of Teaching Methods**

Teachers perceive ICT as a means to enhance their teaching methods. The integration of ICT allows for more diverse and innovative teaching strategies that cater to different learning styles. Teacher 2 from Sone High School mentioned, "*ICT tools have allowed me to diversify my teaching methods and incorporate different learning styles*." This sentiment is supported by Teacher 1 from Hoya Secondary School, who said, "*ICT makes my teaching more dynamic and interactive, which benefits all students, especially those who struggle with traditional methods*." Head of Department 2 from Machaya High School also highlighted the enhancement of teaching methods, stating, "*It's very effective. It helps in making abstract physics concepts more tangible and understandable*." These comments indicate that ICT is seen as a way to improve and modernize teaching practices, making them more effective and engaging for students.

## **Theme 5: Preparation for Future Careers**

Another theme is the perception that integrating ICT in teaching physics prepares students for future careers. Teachers believe that familiarity with technology and digital tools is essential for students' future success in various fields. Teacher 5 from Sone High School noted, "*By using ICT in the classroom, we are not only teaching the curriculum but also equipping students with the skills they need for the modern world.*" This view is echoed by Teacher 6 from Hoya

Secondary School, who stated, "ICT integration prepares students for future careers by giving them the necessary digital skills." Head of Department 1 from Sone High School also emphasized this point, saying, "*The integration of ICT is beneficial as it prepares students for the technological demands of the future*." These responses highlight that teachers perceive ICT integration as a way to provide students with valuable skills that will be useful in their future careers.

The thematic analysis of interviews with teachers, school heads, and heads of departments from Hoya Secondary School, Sone High School, and Machaya High School in Muzarabani District reveals several key themes related to the perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics. Teachers perceive ICT as highly effective in enhancing student understanding of complex concepts, increasing student engagement, and helping visualize abstract concepts. Additionally, ICT is seen as a means to enhance teaching methods and prepare students for future careers. These positive perceptions underscore the importance of integrating ICT in physics education to improve teaching and learning outcomes.

#### 4.5.1 Benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics

The integration of Information and Communication Technology (ICT) in education has become increasingly important, particularly in subjects like physics that benefit from visual and interactive teaching methods. This study aims to identify the benefits of incorporating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District. Through interviews with selected teachers and key informants, insights were gathered on the perceived advantages of ICT integration in physics education.

## 4.5.1 Thematic Analysis

## **Theme 1: Enhanced Conceptual Understanding**

One of the primary benefits highlighted by interviewees is the improved conceptual understanding among students due to ICT integration. Teachers and school heads noted that ICT tools, such as simulations and interactive models, help students visualize complex physics phenomena that are often difficult to explain verbally.

Teacher 3 from Hoya Secondary School explained, "Integrating ICT helps make complex physics concepts easier to understand. Using simulations and interactive models, students can visualize phenomena that are difficult to explain verbally." This sentiment is reinforced by Teacher 1 from Machaya High School, who added, "With the help of ICT, students can see animations and simulations that bring abstract concepts to life, making them more tangible." School Head 2 from Hoya Secondary School also emphasized the role of ICT in enhancing understanding, stating, "ICT integration provides access to a wealth of online resources and up-to-date information, enhancing both teaching and learning." These responses indicate that ICT is instrumental in making abstract physics concepts more concrete and engaging for students, leading to a deeper understanding of the subject matter.

## **Theme 2: Increased Student Engagement and Motivation**

Another significant benefit of ICT integration is the heightened student engagement and motivation. Teachers observed that ICT tools make lessons more interactive and enjoyable, which helps maintain students' interest and encourages active participation. Teacher 2 from Sone High School noted, "ICT tools increase student engagement. Interactive lessons capture their interest more effectively than traditional methods. This engagement helps improve their retention and understanding of the subject matter." Similarly, Teacher 4 from Hoya Secondary School stated, "Students are more motivated when they use ICT in lessons. They find the interactive elements exciting and are more eager to participate." Head of Department 1 from Sone High School also highlighted the motivational aspect, saying, "It improves collaboration among students. ICT tools facilitate group work and collaborative projects, which are essential for understanding complex physics concepts." These comments underscore the role of ICT in making learning more engaging and enjoyable, leading to better educational outcomes.

# **Theme 3: Facilitating Differentiated Instruction**

ICT integration supports differentiated instruction by allowing teachers to cater to diverse learning styles and paces. This flexibility ensures that all students, regardless of their abilities, can grasp the material effectively.

Teacher 3 from Machaya High School remarked, "With ICT, I can cater to different learning styles and paces, making sure each student understands the material thoroughly." This view is supported by Teacher 4 from Hoya Secondary School, who noted, "ICT makes lessons more dynamic and interactive. It helps in maintaining student interest and motivation throughout the learning process."

Head of Department 2 from Machaya High School emphasized the practical benefits, stating, *"ICT integration supports practical learning. Simulations and virtual labs allow students to conduct experiments that would be impossible in a regular classroom due to cost or safety issues."* These responses highlight how ICT tools enable personalized learning experiences, helping teachers address the unique needs of each student.

#### **Theme 4: Access to Current Information and Resources**

Another benefit of ICT integration is access to a wealth of online resources and current information. Teachers and school heads pointed out that ICT tools provide students with uptodate and relevant materials, enhancing their learning experience. School Head 1 from Hoya Secondary School mentioned, "ICT integration provides access to a wealth of online resources and up-to-date information, enhancing both teaching and learning." This sentiment is echoed by Teacher 1 from Hoya Secondary School, who stated, "Using online resources, I can find the latest information and examples to share with my students, making the lessons more relevant." Teacher 2 from Sone High School also emphasized the value of current resources, stating, "ICT tools give us access to the most recent studies and data, which we can incorporate into our lessons to make them more informative and engaging." These comments indicate that access to current information and resources is a significant advantage of ICT integration in physics education.

## **Theme 5: Promotion of Practical Learning and Experimentation**

ICT integration facilitates practical learning and experimentation, providing students with opportunities to conduct experiments and explore concepts in ways that are not possible in a traditional classroom setting. Head of Department 2 from Machaya High School highlighted this benefit, saying, "*ICT integration supports practical learning. Simulations and virtual labs* 

allow students to conduct experiments that would be impossible in a regular classroom due to cost or safety issues." This view is supported by Teacher 3 from Machaya High School, who noted, "With ICT, students can perform virtual experiments that enhance their understanding of theoretical concepts." School Head 2 from Machaya High School also emphasized the practical benefits, stating, "ICT provides a platform for continuous assessment and feedback. Tools like online quizzes and simulations give immediate feedback, helping students learn from their mistakes." These responses highlight the role of ICT in facilitating hands-on learning experiences that enhance students' understanding and retention of physics concepts.

#### **Theme 6: Preparation for Future Careers**

Teachers and school heads perceive ICT integration as a way to prepare students for future careers. Familiarity with technology and digital tools is seen as essential for students' success in various fields. Teacher 5 from Sone High School noted, "*By using ICT in the classroom, we are not only teaching the curriculum but also equipping students with the skills they need for the modern world*." This view is echoed by Teacher 6 from Hoya Secondary School, who stated, "*ICT integration prepares students for future careers by giving them the necessary digital skills*." Head of Department 1 from Sone High School also emphasized this point, saying, "*The integration of ICT is beneficial as it prepares students for the technological demands of the future*." These responses highlight that teachers perceive ICT integration as a way to provide students with valuable skills that will be useful in their future careers.

The thematic analysis of interviews with teachers, school heads, and heads of departments from Hoya Secondary School, Sone High School, and Machaya High School in Muzarabani District reveals several key benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics. ICT is perceived as a powerful tool for enhancing students' understanding of complex concepts, boosting engagement and motivation, and supporting diverse learning styles. Additionally, ICT provides access to a vast array of resources and facilitates practical learning experiences that are otherwise difficult to achieve. Importantly, ICT integration is also seen as a way to equip students with essential digital skills, preparing them for future academic and professional endeavours. These insights underscore the transformative potential of ICT in physics education, highlighting the need for continued investment in technology and teacher training to fully realize these benefits. By embracing ICT, schools in Muzarabani District can create more dynamic, engaging, and effective learning environments that cater to the needs of all students.

# **4.6** Challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics

This study aims to evaluate the challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District. Through interviews, key insights were gathered on the obstacles that hinder effective ICT integration in physics education. The thematic analysis of these interviews reveals several significant challenges and barriers.

## 4.6.1 Thematic Analysis

# **Theme 1: Lack of Resources**

A leading theme that emerged from the interviews is the lack of resources, including insufficient computers and unreliable internet access. Teachers and school heads consistently highlighted this issue as a major barrier to effective ICT integration. Teacher 1 from Hoya

Secondary School stated, "The main challenge is the lack of resources. We don't have enough computers or reliable internet access. This makes it difficult to implement ICT in our lessons effectively." This sentiment is echoed by School Head 2 from Machaya High School, who noted, "Funding is a significant challenge. There is not enough budget allocated for purchasing and maintaining ICT equipment." Teacher 4 from Hoya Secondary School also emphasized the lack of resources, mentioning, "Technical support is lacking. When we encounter issues with ICT tools, we don't have immediate access to technical support, which disrupts our lessons and makes it challenging to rely on technology." These responses indicate that without adequate resources, teachers are unable to fully utilize ICT in their teaching practices.

# **Theme 2: Inadequate Training**

Another significant barrier identified is inadequate training for teachers on how to use ICT tools effectively. Many teachers feel ill-equipped to integrate technology into their lessons due to insufficient professional development opportunities. Teacher 2 from Sone High School

explained, "Inadequate training is a significant barrier. Many teachers, including myself, have not received sufficient training on how to use ICT tools properly. This limits our ability to integrate technology effectively." This view is supported by Teacher 3 from Machaya High School, who noted, "Time constraints are a big issue. We have a heavy teaching load and many administrative duties, leaving little time to plan and implement ICT-based lessons." Head of Department 1 from Sone High School also emphasized the need for training, stating, "Resistance to change is another barrier. Some teachers are hesitant to adopt new technologies because they are comfortable with traditional teaching methods and are unsure about how to integrate ICT effectively." These comments highlight the importance of providing comprehensive and ongoing training to ensure teachers are confident and capable of using ICT in their classrooms.

#### **Theme 3: Inadequate Infrastructure**

Inadequate infrastructure, including insufficient electrical outlets and unstable internet connections, is another major barrier to ICT integration. Teachers and school heads pointed out that the existing infrastructure does not support the effective use of technology in education. School Head 1 from Hoya Secondary School stated, "One of the major barriers is inadequate infrastructure. Our schools lack the necessary technological infrastructure, such as sufficient electrical outlets and stable internet connections, to support ICT integration." This sentiment is echoed by Teacher 4 from Hoya Secondary School, who mentioned, "Technical support is lacking. When we encounter issues with ICT tools, we don'thave immediate access to technical support."

Teacher 3 from Machaya High School also highlighted the impact of inadequate infrastructure, noting, "*Time constraints are a big issue. We have a heavy teaching load and many administrative duties, leaving little time to plan and implement ICT-based lessons.*" These responses indicate that without the proper infrastructure, teachers face significant challenges in integrating ICT into their teaching practices effectively.

## **Theme 4: Resistance to Change**

Resistance to change among teachers is another barrier to ICT integration. Some teachers are reluctant to adopt new technologies due to a preference for traditional teaching methods and uncertainty about how to effectively use ICT. Head of Department 1 from Sone High School explained, "*Resistance to change is another barrier. Some teachers are hesitant to adopt new technologies because they are comfortable with traditional teaching methods and are unsure about how to integrate ICT effectively.*" This view is supported by Teacher 2 from Sone High School, who noted, "*Inadequate training is a significant barrier. Many teachers, including myself, have not received sufficient training on how to use ICT tools properly.*" Teacher 3 from Machaya High School also mentioned the issue of resistance, stating, "Time constraints are a big issue. We have a heavy teaching load and many administrative duties, leaving little time to plan and implement ICT-based lessons." These comments highlight the need for change management strategies to help teachers transition to using ICT in their classrooms.

#### **Theme 5: Curriculum Rigidity**

Curriculum rigidity is another barrier identified by the interviewees. The current curriculum does not fully accommodate the integration of ICT, making it difficult for teachers to align their ICT-based lessons with the required syllabus. Head of Department 2 from Machaya High School explained, "*Curriculum rigidity is a problem. The current curriculum does not fully accommodate the integration of ICT, making it difficult for teachers to align their ICTbased lessons with the required syllabus.*" This sentiment is echoed by Teacher 3 from Machaya High School, who noted, "*Time constraints are a big issue. We have a heavy teaching load and many administrative duties, leaving little time to plan and implement ICTbased lessons.*" School Head 1 from Hoya Secondary School also emphasized the issue of curriculum rigidity, stating, "*One of the major barriers is inadequate infrastructure. Our schools lack the necessary technological infrastructure, such as sufficient electrical outlets and stable internet connections, to support ICT integration.*" These comments indicate that the current curriculum needs to be more flexible to accommodate the integration of ICT in teaching.

The thematic analysis of interviews with teachers, school heads, and heads of departments from Hoya Secondary School, Sone High School, and Machaya High School in Muzarabani District divulges several significant challenges and barriers to integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics. The primary barriers identified include a lack of resources, inadequate training, insufficient infrastructure, resistance to change, and curriculum rigidity. Addressing these challenges requires a multifaceted approach, including increased funding for resources and infrastructure, comprehensive training programs for teachers, and changes to the curriculum to support ICT integration. By overcoming these barriers, schools in Muzarabani District can fully leverage the benefits of ICT to enhance physics education and improve student learning outcomes.

### 4.7 Discussion of Results

# **4.7.1** The level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom

The findings of this study resonate with various other empirical studies that have investigated the levels of computer skills among teachers and their impact on ICT integration in the classroom. However, there are also some contrasting perspectives and unique insights that emerge. Consistent with the findings of this study, several other researchers have highlighted the varying levels of computer skills among teachers as a significant factor influencing the effective integration of ICT in the classroom (Smith & Doe, 2020). A study by Brown et al. (2019) in Malaysia found that while some teachers were proficient in using ICT tools, others lacked basic computer skills, which hindered their ability to integrate technology effectively. Similarly, a study by Wang and Li (2020) in India revealed that many teachers had limited computer skills, leading to a low adoption of ICT in their teaching practices.

The barriers identified in this study, such as inadequate training, lack of resources, and infrastructural challenges, are also widely recognized in other empirical studies. Researchers such as Chen and Lin (2018) and Brown and Green (2022) have emphasized the importance of providing adequate training and professional development opportunities to enhance teachers' computer skills and promote ICT integration. Additionally, studies by Anderson and Thompson (2020) and Lee and Carter (2021) have highlighted the impact of insufficient resources and infrastructural limitations on the successful implementation of ICT in the classroom. However, some contrasting perspectives emerge from other studies. While this study primarily focused on the level of computer skills, some researchers have also explored the influence of factors such as teachers' attitudes, beliefs, and pedagogical approaches on ICT integration (Johnson et al., 2021). These studies suggest that even when teachers possess the necessary computer skills,

their attitudes and beliefs about the value and effectiveness of ICT in education can significantly impact their willingness to integrate technology in their teaching practices.

Furthermore, some empirical studies have investigated the role of school leadership and organizational support in facilitating ICT integration (Martinez & Clark, 2018). These studies highlight the importance of strong leadership commitment, resource allocation, and a supportive organizational culture in promoting the effective use of ICT in the classroom, which complements the recommendations made in this study. Overall, while the findings of this study align with many other empirical studies in terms of the challenges and barriers associated with ICT integration, it also provides unique insights into the specific context of secondary schools in Muzarabani District. By understanding and addressing the varying levels of computer skills among teachers, as well as the broader issues of training, resources, and infrastructure, stakeholders can better design and implement strategies to enhance the effective integration of ICT in the classroom.

# **4.7.2** Perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics

The findings of this study align with several other empirical studies that have explored teachers' perceptions of the effectiveness of integrating ICT in teaching various subjects, including physics. However, there are also some contrasting perspectives and nuances that emerge from the literature. Consistent with the findings of this study, numerous researchers have highlighted the perceived effectiveness of ICT in enhancing student understanding of complex concepts and increasing engagement (Martinez & Clark, 2018). For instance, a study by Lai and Bower (2019) found that teachers perceived ICT as valuable for visualizing abstract concepts, facilitating active learning, and promoting student motivation. Similarly, Tondeur et al. (2018) reported that teachers believed ICT tools, such as simulations and animations, improved students' conceptual understanding in science subjects like physics.

The perception of ICT as a means to enhance teaching methods and diversify teaching strategies is also echoed in other studies. Johnson and Brown (2018) found that teachers who successfully integrated ICT in their classrooms employed a variety of technology-supported pedagogical strategies, catering to different learning styles. Additionally, Kaur and Sidhu (2018) reported that teachers perceived ICT as a way to improve their teaching practices and make lessons more

interactive and engaging. However, some contrasting perspectives emerge from the literature. While this study primarily focused on the positive perceptions of ICT effectiveness, other studies have also highlighted potential challenges and barriers. For instance, a study by Smith and Clark (2018) found that some teachers perceived ICT integration as time-consuming and challenging due to limited resources and technical support. Similarly, Thompson et al. (2020) reported that teachers expressed concerns about the potential for ICT to distract students and the difficulty in managing technology-enhanced classrooms.

Furthermore, some studies have explored the influence of teachers' beliefs, attitudes, and selfefficacy on their perceptions of ICT effectiveness (Martinez & Clark, 2018). These studies suggest that while teachers may recognize the potential benefits of ICT, their personal beliefs and confidence in using technology can significantly impact their perceptions and willingness to integrate ICT in their teaching practices. It is also worth noting that some empirical studies have focused specifically on the integration of ICT in physics education. For instance, a study by Davis and Smith (2017) found that physics teachers perceived simulations and animations as highly effective in teaching abstract concepts and enhancing student understanding. Similarly Brown et al. (2019) reported that physics teachers believed interactive simulations improved students' conceptual understanding and problem-solving skills. Generally, while the findings of this study align with many other empirical studies in terms of the perceived effectiveness of ICT in enhancing teaching and learning, it is important to consider the potential challenges and barriers, as well as the influence of teachers' beliefs and attitudes. By understanding these nuances and addressing any concerns or limitations, stakeholders can better facilitate the successful integration of ICT in physics education and maximize its effectiveness.

### 4.7.3 Benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics

The findings of this study resonate with numerous other empirical studies that have explored the benefits of integrating ICT in teaching and learning physics and other science subjects. However, there are also some contrasting perspectives and nuances that emerge from the literature. Consistent with the findings of this study, many researchers have highlighted the role of ICT in enhancing students' conceptual understanding and visualization of abstract concepts in physics and science education (Smith & Doe, 2020). For instance, Smith and

Johnson (2018) found that interactive simulations and virtual experiments improved students' conceptual understanding and problem-solving skills in physics. Similarly, Brown et al. (2019) reported that physics teachers perceived simulations and animations as highly effective in teaching abstract concepts.

The increased student engagement and motivation resulting from ICT integration is also supported by other studies. Kozma (2016) found that ICT tools, such as simulations and interactive multimedia, promoted active learning and student motivation in science subjects. Additionally, Martinez and Clark (2018) reported that teachers perceived ICT as a means to diversify their teaching strategies and cater to different learning styles, which aligns with the findings of this study. Furthermore, the benefit of ICT integration in facilitating differentiated instruction and catering to diverse learning needs is corroborated by other researchers. Williams and Davis (2019) found that teachers perceived ICT as a valuable tool for addressing individual differences and providing personalized learning experiences. Similarly, Brown and Green (2022) reported that teachers believed ICT integration could support students with special needs and learning difficulties.

However, some contrasting perspectives and limitations emerge from other studies. While this study primarily focused on the benefits of ICT integration, some researchers have also highlighted potential challenges and barriers. For instance, Lee and Carter (2021) found that teachers perceived the lack of resources, technical support, and professional development as significant obstacles to effective ICT integration. Additionally, Morrison et al. (2017) reported that some teachers expressed concerns about the potential for ICT to distract students and the difficulty in managing technology-enhanced classrooms. Moreover, some studies have emphasized the importance of considering teachers' beliefs, attitudes, and selfefficacy in the successful integration of ICT. Lai and Bower (2019) found that teachers' personal beliefs and confidence in using technology can significantly impact their willingness and ability to integrate ICT effectively in their teaching practices.

It is also worth noting that while the findings of this study are focused on the integration of ICT in physics education, similar benefits have been reported in other science subjects. For instance, studies by Tondeur et al. (2018) and Smith et al. (2017) explored the positive impacts

of ICT integration in subjects like biology and chemistry, highlighting the potential for ICT to enhance teaching and learning across various scientific disciplines.

Largely, while the findings of this study align with many other empirical studies in terms of the perceived benefits of ICT integration in physics education, it is important to consider potential challenges, teacher beliefs, and subject-specific nuances. By addressing these factors and leveraging the advantages of ICT, stakeholders can create more effective and engaging learning environments that foster conceptual understanding, practical skills, and future-ready competencies in physics and other scientific disciplines.

# **4.7.4** Challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics

The findings of this study regarding the challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of physics align with numerous other empirical studies in the field of educational technology. However, there are also some contrasting perspectives and nuances that emerge from the literature. Consistent with the findings of this study, the lack of resources, including insufficient hardware, software, and internet access, has been widely reported as a significant barrier to effective ICT integration in education (Johnson et al., 2021). For instance, Lai and Bower (2019) found that teachers perceived the lack of resources as a major obstacle to ICT integration, echoing the sentiments expressed in this study.

The issue of inadequate training and professional development for teachers is also consistent with other studies. Tondeur et al. (2018) reported that limited training opportunities and technical support hindered teachers' ability to integrate ICT effectively in their classrooms. Similarly, Smith et al. (2017) found that many teachers felt ill-equipped to use technology due to insufficient training. The challenges posed by inadequate infrastructure, such as unreliable electricity and internet connectivity, are also reflected in other studies. Johnson and Brown (2018) and Kaur and Sidhu (2018) both highlighted the importance of robust technological infrastructure in supporting ICT integration, echoing the findings of this study. Furthermore, the issue of resistance to change and teachers' reluctance to adopt new technologies is well-documented in the literature. Smith and Clark (2018) emphasized the role of teachers' beliefs and attitudes in shaping their willingness to integrate ICT, with some teachers preferring traditional teaching methods.

However, some contrasting perspectives emerge from other studies. While this study identified curriculum rigidity as a barrier, some researchers have argued that the flexibility of the curriculum can also pose challenges for ICT integration. Thompson et al. (2020) found that teachers struggled to align ICT-based activities with the prescribed curriculum, highlighting the need for a balanced approach to curriculum design. Additionally, some studies have highlighted the importance of school leadership and support from administrators in facilitating ICT integration (Martinez & Clark, 2018). While this aspect was not explicitly addressed in this study, strong leadership and administrative support can play a crucial role in overcoming barriers and fostering a culture of technology integration. It is also worth noting that some of the challenges identified in this study, such as lack of resources and inadequate infrastructure, may be more prevalent in developing countries or resource-constrained settings. However, the issue of inadequate training and resistance to change can be prevalent across various contexts. Inclusive, while the findings of this study resonate with many other empirical studies on the challenges of ICT integration in education, it is important to consider the potential nuances and contextual factors that may influence the barriers faced by teachers. By addressing these challenges through a comprehensive approach that involves stakeholders at various levels, schools and educational institutions can better support teachers in effectively integrating ICT into their teaching practices, ultimately enhancing the learning experiences of students.

#### **4.9 Chapter Summary**

In this chapter, the study's primary objective of exploring the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics was addressed. The chapter presented and analysed the collected data, emphasizing key findings and thematic elements derived from participant interviews. The narrative format highlighted the perspectives of the respondents. Overall, the chapter provided a comprehensive overview of the participants' views on the advantages of ICT integration in physics education, setting the stage for a deeper understanding of how these benefits can be leveraged to enhance teaching and learning outcomes. The next chapter is going to cover the study conclusion and recommendations.

# **CHAPTER FIVE : SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS**

#### **5.1 Introduction**

This study investigated the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics in secondary schools in Muzarabani District. This chapter presents the conclusions and recommendations drawn from a comprehensive analysis of the research findings. In line with the study's objectives, conclusions are provided and recommendations are suggested based on the collected data and a review of relevant literature.

## 5.2 Summary of the Study

The study examined the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics in secondary schools in Muzarabani District. The research objectives were: to determine the level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom, to assess the perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in teaching ordinary level physics, to establish the benefits of integrating ICT in teaching and learning ordinary level physics, and to evaluate the challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics. A total of 13 respondents were selected using a purposive sampling method, and the data was analyzed using thematic analysis.

#### 5.3 Summary of findings

The study findings revealed that the level of computer skills among teachers in Muzarabani District varied significantly, impacting their ability to integrate ICT effectively into teaching. While some teachers demonstrated high proficiency, many had only basic skills, limiting ICT use in classrooms. Barriers to effective ICT integration included inadequate training, insufficient resources, and infrastructural challenges such as unreliable electricity and internet access. Teachers with higher computer skills used a variety of ICT tools to enhance their lessons, while those with limited skills relied on traditional methods. Recommendations included continuous professional development, improved resources, and better infrastructure to support ICT use in education.

The study outcomes indicated that teachers perceive ICT integration as highly effective in teaching ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District. Key benefits include enhanced understanding of complex concepts, increased student engagement, and improved visualization of abstract ideas. Teachers noted that ICT tools, such as simulations and interactive presentations, make learning more interactive and engaging, helping students grasp difficult topics. Additionally, ICT allows for more diverse teaching methods and prepares students for future careers by equipping them with essential digital skills. These positive perceptions highlight the significance of ICT in improving physics education.

The study results showed that integrating ICT in teaching ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District offers significant benefits. Key themes include enhanced conceptual understanding, increased student engagement, and support for diverse learning styles. Teachers noted that ICT tools, such as simulations and interactive presentations, help students visualize complex concepts and make lessons more engaging. ICT also provides access to current resources, promotes practical learning through virtual labs, and prepares students for future careers by equipping them with essential digital skills. These benefits highlight the importance of ICT in improving physics education.

The study findings indicated that teachers in Muzarabani District face several significant challenges when integrating ICT in teaching ordinary level physics. These include a lack of resources, such as insufficient computers and unreliable internet, inadequate training, and insufficient infrastructure, such as inadequate electrical outlets and unstable internet connections. Teachers also reported resistance to change and curriculum rigidity as barriers. These challenges hinder effective ICT integration in physics education. Addressing them requires increased funding, comprehensive training programs, and curriculum adjustments to fully realize the benefits of ICT in enhancing teaching and learning outcomes.

# **5.4 Conclusion**

The study concluded that integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District offers significant benefits, though it is not without its challenges. The research objectives covered the levels of computer skills among teachers, the effectiveness of ICT integration, the benefits of ICT in education, and the barriers faced by teachers. Firstly, the findings revealed varying levels of computer skills among teachers. While some teachers demonstrated high proficiency in using ICT tools, many others had only basic skills, which limited their ability to effectively integrate technology into their lessons. This disparity underscores the need for more comprehensive and continuous professional development in ICT for teachers. Secondly, teachers perceived ICT integration as highly effective in enhancing students' understanding of complex concepts, increasing student engagement, and helping visualize abstract ideas. ICT tools such as simulations and interactive presentations make learning more interactive and engaging, aiding students in grasping difficult topics. Additionally, ICT allows for diverse teaching methods and prepares students for future careers by equipping them with essential digital skills. Despite these benefits, the study identified several significant barriers to effective ICT integration. A lack of resources, including insufficient computers and unreliable internet access, was a major obstacle. Inadequate training for teachers on how to use ICT tools effectively further compounded this issue. Infrastructural challenges, such as inadequate electrical outlets and unstable internet connections, also hindered the effective use of ICT in classrooms. Moreover, resistance to change among some teachers and curriculum rigidity were noted as additional barriers. To overcome these challenges and fully leverage the benefits of ICT, the study recommends a multifaceted approach. This includes increased funding for resources and infrastructure, comprehensive and ongoing training programs for teachers, and adjustments to the curriculum to accommodate

ICT integration. By addressing these issues, schools in Muzarabani District can create more dynamic, engaging, and effective learning environments that cater to the needs of all students, ultimately enhancing the quality of physics education and improving student learning outcomes.

# 5.5 Recommendations of the Study

Based on the findings of this study, several recommendations are proposed to enhance the integration of ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District:

# 1. Continuous Professional Development for Teachers:

- **Regular Training Workshops**: Implement regular and comprehensive training workshops for teachers to enhance their ICT skills. Focus on practical, hands-on training that allows teachers to immediately apply new technologies in their classrooms.
- **Ongoing Support and Mentorship**: Establish a mentorship program where more proficient teachers can guide and support their peers. This will help in fostering a collaborative learning environment among teachers.

# 2. Improvement of Resources and Infrastructure:

- **Increase Funding**: Allocate more funds for the purchase and maintenance of ICT equipment, such as computers, projectors, and interactive whiteboards. Ensure that every classroom is equipped with the necessary technology.
- Enhance Internet Connectivity: Invest in reliable and high-speed internet access for all schools. This will enable both teachers and students to access online resources and tools effectively.
- **Technical Support**: Provide immediate and accessible technical support to address any issues with ICT tools. This can help minimize disruptions in lessons and build teachers' confidence in using technology.

# 3. Curriculum Flexibility:

• **Incorporate ICT into the Curriculum**: Modify the existing curriculum to integrate ICT-based learning activities. Ensure that the curriculum supports the use of technology in teaching complex physics concepts and encourages innovative teaching methods.

- Alignment with Educational Goals: Ensure that the use of ICT aligns with the educational goals and learning outcomes of the physics curriculum. This will make the integration of technology more meaningful and effective.
- 4. Encouraging Positive Attitudes Towards ICT:
  - **Change Management Strategies**: Implement strategies to help teachers adapt to new technologies. This includes providing information on the benefits of ICT integration and addressing any concerns or resistance to change.
  - **Recognition and Incentives**: Recognize and reward teachers who effectively integrate ICT into their teaching. This can motivate others to adopt similar practices.

# 5. Student Engagement and Digital Literacy:

- **Interactive Learning Tools**: Use interactive learning tools and software that cater to different learning styles and paces. This will help in maintaining student interest and motivation.
- **Digital Skills Development**: Incorporate activities that develop students' digital skills, preparing them for future academic and professional endeavors.

# 6. Community and Stakeholder Involvement:

- Collaboration with NGOs and Private Sector: Partner with nongovernmental organizations and private companies to secure additional resources and support for ICT integration.
- **Parental Involvement**: Engage parents and the community in supporting the use of ICT in education. This can include workshops and information sessions to highlight the benefits of technology in learning.

By implementing these recommendations, Muzarabani District can overcome the challenges and barriers identified in the study, thereby fully leveraging the benefits of ICT in enhancing the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics. This will lead to a more effective, engaging, and modern educational environment that supports both teachers and students in achieving their full potential.

## **5.6 Areas of Further Studies**

Based on the findings and limitations of this study, the following areas are recommended for further research to deepen understanding and enhance the integration of ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics in Muzarabani District:

# 1. Longitudinal Impact Studies:

• Conduct longitudinal studies to assess the long-term impact of ICT integration on student learning outcomes and academic performance in physics. This will provide insights into the sustained benefits and challenges over time.

## 2. Comparative Studies Across Different Subjects:

• Expand research to compare the effectiveness of ICT integration in physics with other subjects, such as mathematics, biology, and chemistry. This will help identify subject-specific challenges and best practices.

#### References

Anderson, M., & Davis, R. (2020). "Enhancing Physics Education through ICT: A Comparative Study of Different Teaching Approaches." Physics Education Research, 38(4), 567-589.

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2021). Thematic Analysis: A Practical Guide. SAGE Publications Creswell, J. W., &Poth, C. N. (2021). Qualitative Inquiry and Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. SAGE Publications.

Crompton, H. (2017). Mobile learning and student cognition: A systematic review of PK-12 research using Bloom's Taxonomy. *British Journal of Educational Technology*, 48(2), 571592. Davis, S., & Smith, T. (2017). ICT Integration in Physics Education: Providing Access to Diverse Learning Resources. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, 14(1), 28.

Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2021). The SAGE Handbook of Qualitative Research. SAGE Publications.

Johnson, R., & Brown, K. (2019). Enhancing Problem Solving Skills in Physics Education through ICT Integration. *International Journal of Science Education*, 37(6), 845-862. Johnson, S., & Brown, L. (2019). "The Role of ICT in Physics Learning: A Case Study of

Secondary Schools in the UK." International Journal of Educational Technology, 12(3), 12 Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (2020). Naturalistic Inquiry. SAGE Publications.

Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2020). Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation. Jossey-Bass.

Moustakas, C. (2020). Phenomenological Research Methods. SAGE Publications.

Mulisa, T. (2022). Sampling Techniques in Qualitative Research: Purposive Sampling. Journal of Educational Research.

Patton, M. Q. (2021). Qualitative Research & Evaluation Methods: Integrating Theory and Practice. SAGE Publications.

Resnik, D. B. (2020). The Ethics of Research with Human Subjects: Protecting People, Advancing Science, Promoting Trust. Springer.

Smith, J. (2018). "Integrating ICT in Physics Education: A Meta-analysis of the Benefits." *Journal of Science Education*, 25(2), 45-67.

Smith, J. A. (2020). Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, Method and Research. SAGE Publications.

Smith, J. A. (2020). Interpretive Phenomenological Analysis: Theory, Method and Research. SAGE Publications.

Smith, J., & Clark, A. (2018). The Impact of ICT Integration on Students' Motivation and Engagement in Physics Education. *Journal of Physics Education*, *45*(2), 123-136.

Thompson, L., et al. (2020). Collaborative Learning in Physics Education: The Role of ICT Tools. *Physics Education*, 55(4), 45001.

Van Manen, M. (2021). Phenomenology of Practice: Meaning-Giving Methods in Phenomenological Research and Writing. Routledge.

Zacharia, Z. C. (2015). Investigating the use of simulations and video games in physics education: A systematic review of the literature. Physics Education, 50(4), 1-12.

# **Appendix 1: Interview Guide**

# **INTERVIEW GUIDE FOR YOUTHS**

Date of Interview: .....

Time: .....

# **Participant Background Information**

Academic Qualifications: .....

# Years of involvement in teaching activities.....

- 1. What do you think are the level of computer skills among teachers in relation to ICT integration in the classroom?
- 2. Whatdo you think is the perceptions of teachers regarding the effectiveness of integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics?
- 3. What do you think are the benefits of integrating ICT in the teaching and learning of ordinary level physics?

4. Whatdo you think are challenges and barriers faced by teachers when integrating ICT in the teaching of ordinary level physics?